

Looking after your child following trauma



Produced by the Greater Manchester Resilience Hub and funded by NHS England

Between 2017 and 2019 the Hub organized and delivered workshops for children, young people and their families who were impacted by the Manchester Arena Attack. These workshops were funded by the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund and supported by Greater Manchester Police, Foundation for Peace and 42nd Street. This guide was developed following these workshops and is dedicated to the families who attended them. We thank them for their honesty, determination and courage in sharing their stories and recovery journeys with us.

Authors - Jenni Willbourn, Kate Friedmann and Clare Jones

Contents

Looking after your child following a trauma	4
How might my child be feeling after trauma?	5
Why do trauma reactions happen and why do they persist?	6
What can I do to help my child after a trauma?	7
Returning to school/college after a trauma	9
Triggers and reminders	10
Sleep	11
Upsetting thoughts and worries	12
Reassurance	13
Feeling low	14
Self-harm after trauma	15
Impact of trauma on other family members	16
Additional help	18
Helplines and useful apps	20

Looking after your child following a trauma

You are probably reading this booklet because your child, or someone you care about, has been involved in a traumatic situation. The impact of trauma can be far reaching, affecting those who were there but also those who were not. Everyone's reactions will be different and while these may feel scary or confusing they are normal and will often settle down after a few weeks. Some reactions can be longer lasting and might need extra support or professional help.

The good news is there are many things that parents and carers can do to help their children's recovery from a trauma. This guide will help you understand why many children and young people find it hard after a trauma, what they might be experiencing and how you can help them.

If you have been caught up in the same trauma then you may find that some of the ideas in this guidance are applicable to you too.

Using this booklet

This booklet is divided in to short sections; not every section will feel relevant to your child's experiences so please do not feel you have to read it all. You can dip in and out and pick the sections that are helpful. Trauma reactions can change over time so you may find that different sections become relevant at different times.

What is a trauma?

A trauma is an unexpected situation where someone feels helpless, or afraid for the safety of themselves or others. There are many different types of single event trauma such as; a car accident, the death of family member, a burglary, a natural disaster or a terrorist attack. There are also traumas that can happen over a longer time frame such as bullying or harassment.

Usually single event trauma comes out of the blue and can be something never experienced before. Often people think they or someone they love is going to die or be seriously hurt, so strong feelings of fear or helplessness are common. It is important to remember that people do not have to have been present or witnessed a trauma to be affected; people can be equally impacted by hearing about a trauma, especially if it involves a loved one. So if your child has been involved in a trauma there will likely be others in the family, especially parents/carers who may experience similar trauma reactions outlined on the next page.

How might my child be feeling after a trauma?

Trauma affects people in different ways, at different times; there is no right or wrong way to think or feel. Some of the things people commonly experience following a trauma are;

- nightmares and struggling to sleep
- upsetting thoughts
- unwanted memories and pictures of the event
- feeling as though it is happening all over again
- feeling anxious, jumpy and on edge
- having panic attacks or physical sensations (dizziness, heart racing etc)
- becoming upset at reminders
- being more worried about bad things happening
- finding it difficult to cope with everyday stresses
- feeling scared to go out
- finding it hard to be separated from loved ones
- feeling sad and irritable
- having difficulty concentrating
- feeling guilty for what they did or didn't do and how they are feeling now
- feeling like things will never get better.

Trauma reactions are often invisible and are hard for children to articulate but they may demonstrate the distress they are feeling through their behaviour;

- regressive behaviour (e.g. bed wetting, thumb sucking, being more clingy)
- intolerance, irritability or anger

- physical complaints (e.g. stomach ache, headaches)
- changes to play
- risk taking behaviours
- increase in anxiety around separations (e.g. worry about parents or siblings leaving the home)

It can be difficult to see your child upset and anxious but it is important to bear in mind that these reactions make a lot of sense given the fear that they have experienced. Often, following a traumatic event, children's views of the world may be temporarily changed; it will feel less safe and more unpredictable. Many behaviours you see may be an attempt to reduce anxiety and make the world feel safer and more predictable: for example, checking doors and windows are locked, saying goodnight a set way, sleeping in a parent's/carer's bed or playing in a repetitive manner.

Some of these behaviours can be beneficial in the short term and begin to help a child readjust to their world. However, in the longer term these activities can maintain a child's focus on their worries and concerns, and this will slow down their recovery. So it is important you encourage your child to notice and acknowledge their worries and fears, reminding them that the trauma is over and they are safe now. Gradually as you re-establish a more normal routine, this will help your child feel more secure and reduce the anxietydriven behaviours.

Why do trauma reactions happen and why do they persist?

During a trauma our brain switches on its survival mechanism (the limbic system). The limbic system is the most primitive part of the brain and acts as the body's alarm to danger. When it is triggered it ensures that people react in a way that helps them survive. This is the **flight-flight-freeze** response and means someone can react quickly to danger; to stay and fight, run away or freeze to hide.

While the brain is prioritising survival, more complex processes such as planning for the future and processing information go off-line or shutdown. This means information that is happening at the time of the trauma is not processed or stored in the same way as other memories. So memories that are made during a traumatic event can be incomplete or disjointed and they can be linked to the very strong emotions that were experienced at the time of the trauma.

The incomplete processing of trauma memories is partly why they are so volatile; popping up unexpectedly or being easily triggered by reminders of the trauma. The nature of these memories can trick the brain into thinking the trauma is happening again and floods the person with the same fear that they experienced at the time. These memories are known as **flashbacks** and are a common experience following a trauma. Understandably, people may do everything they can to stop these memories being triggered; such as trying not to think about the event or avoiding reminders and situations that make them anxious. Unfortunately, avoidance keeps the memories disorganised and keeps the brain and body in a state of 'high alert', making people jumpy and reactive to even the smallest fears. Avoiding memories and reminders does not allow the brain to process the memory, and it continues to feel that the event is happening again every time the memory is triggered. Avoidance also interferes with recovery as it prevents the person learning to tolerate their distress in the knowledge that they are actually safe and the event is over.

66 The incomplete processing of trauma memories is partly why they are so volatile; popping up unexpectedly or being easily triggered by reminders of the trauma.

What can I do to help my child after a trauma?

At times of increased stress children take their emotional cues from the important adults around them, so one of the best ways to help your child is to make sure you take care of your own needs. Do not ignore or discount your own reactions to the trauma your child has experienced; it is important to notice and respond to these. The way you feel will impact on how you respond at home, so the better you feel the more effectively you can respond to your children, which will help them in their recovery.

You may notice that you experience some of the symptoms outlined above or that you are recognising a number of different thoughts or emotions. Often parents can feel guilty and responsible that their child has been involved in a traumatic situation. This can lead to many normal questions but also at times lots of wishful thinking and wondering if somehow they could have prevented the trauma (e.g. "if only...." or "what if..."). Some parents may also struggle with how they reacted or responded to their child's trauma, either during or after the event and this may bring a wave of other feelings, like guilt, shame or anger. It is so important that you pay attention to what you are feeling and have realistic expectations for yourself, just as you would for your child. These feelings are normal and they will come and go if you take care of them; talk about them with someone you trust, writing them down or using other strategies found in the Child Guide may help. There are also many other self-help resources that will guide you in how best to deal with tricky and unpleasant feelings and thoughts.

Following a trauma, it is a normal parental response to try and make everything feel better for your children; reduce stress or worries, make everything feel safe and take suffering away. This is of course unrealistic both for you as parents and for your children, as 'feeling better' will take time and support and cannot be rushed. Try not to put pressure on yourself to make everything 'right' for your child; it will happen slowly as you support them on their journey.

Remember that recovery from trauma can take weeks and months and the best thing you can do is get alongside your child, understand what they are going through and help them take steps to navigate their journey. Some ways of doing this for both them (and for yourself) might include:

- Remind your child that they are safe.
- Reassure them it is understandable to have strong feelings and thoughts about what has happened.
- Ensure your child is meeting their basic self-care needs - eating well, getting enough sleep and doing a small amount of exercise every day.
- Maintain or re-establish some normal routine.
- Take pressure off them where you can

 does their room have to be tidy, can
 you get them some time off
 homework?
- Encourage them to get back to doing things they used to do as soon as possible, even if they need support and adaptations to do this.

- Discuss with them what will make it easier to go back to school/college/ hobbies and problem-solve their worries.
- Remind them the trauma is in the past

 help them choose a picture on their phone of something good they have done since or something you are looking forward to.
- Make their bedroom and living space comfortable, have things around them that make them feel safe and encourage them to spend time with people (or pets!).
- Stay away from social media and the news if this is upsetting and monitor what your child is seeing.
- Don't worry if your child feels anxious and scared, this is to be expected after a frightening event. Remind them it does not mean there is danger now and it will improve with time.
- Help them make sense of what has happened. Talking about the event or writing it down can help, when they are ready, with a person they trust.
 Fill in missing information for them if possible with age appropriate information.
- Answer difficult questions as honestly as you can, allow yourself to demonstrate emotions and show them you can tolerate their distress. Children often avoid talking about traumas for fear of upsetting family members.
- Remember recovery is different for everyone and it often takes steps forwards and backwards.

There are lots of suggestions to help build resilience and manage trauma responses throughout the **Children's Guide**. These are most effective when your child choose the ones they like and then stick with them. Practicing strategies when they don't need them will make them more effective when they do need them. Matching the type of strategy to how they are feeling is also important, for example, do they need to do some exercise to burn off excessive anxious energy or do they need to try more soothing ones to help them feel more settled and less stressed.

66 Practicing strategies when they don't need them will make them more effective when they do need them.

Returning to school/college after a trauma

Some children will find returning to school following a trauma a welcome relief and a great distraction. They will be keen to get back to the routine, see their friends and may actually find school a safe and reassuring environment to be in.

Equally, other children will find their post-trauma view of the world and their heightened anxiety will mean returning to school brings with it enormous challenges. Some will struggle with: separation from loved ones, the distance they are from the safety of their home and worries about others asking questions.

Many children may find their anxiety is triggered by the school environment. Triggers at school will vary depending on the trauma someone has experienced, but common ones include: unexpected loud noises, screaming, bangs, crowds, alarms, smells, subject topics or specific places within school. This may not become apparent until your child returns to school, but one important way of supporting your child is to liaise with the school and help them understand what your child has been through and what the challenges at school might be. There is a helpful resource for schools called The Journey of Recovery that has been developed with young people who have experienced trauma, specifically to help those within education understand why returning to school might be so difficult following a trauma. There is both an animation and a resource pack, which you are welcome to view and read. It has been distributed by the Department for Education and it might be a helpful starting point for your child's school.

Clearly there maybe times that the difficulties your child is experiencing are more than can be managed within the school or the family home and professional help may be needed. To find out how to access more help please see the end of this guide.

Triggers and reminders

After a trauma our brains can become oversensitive to danger and can keep people in a constant state of 'high alert', expecting the worst and keeping anxiety high. Many things can become associated with the trauma and will trigger memories or flashbacks to the event. Triggers can be noises, songs, smells, stories in the media, places or other things that are less obvious.

It may be instinctive to help your child avoid triggers and reminders as you don't want them to be distressed. However, as mentioned above, if 'avoidance' becomes a key strategy for dealing with distress then memories will remain disorganised and the brain and body will stay in a state of 'high alert' when triggers arise. This can interfere with your child's recovery. It is therefore key that you help them tolerate and ride out the emotions that come with their flashbacks and memories. Understanding trauma triggers can go some way to making them less frightening and can help you make plans about how to manage them. There are lots of ideas about to help your child feel grounded and safe in the **Children's Guide** as well as strategies for helping them with distress and anxiety.

66 Triggers can be noises, songs, smells, stories in the media, places or other things that are less obvious.

Sleep

Sleep is important as it is restorative and helps us make sense of the day's experiences. Following a trauma it is common for sleep to be disturbed by worries, fear and nightmares; this could include difficulty drifting off to sleep or awakenings during the night. Remind your child that anxiety during the night is their brain trying to keep them on high alert so they can avoid any potential dangers; reassure them it is safe to sleep. Ensuring their bedroom is as comfortable as possible and that they maintain a soothing bedtime routine will help. Using sensory strategies from the Children's Guide may also be beneficial.

Whilst nightmares can be distressing they are actually a normal part of recovery from trauma. If your child does have nightmares don't feel compelled to talk about them during the night, comfort them and try and encourage sleep. Your child may want to talk the following day or they may do a picture that represents their nightmare; but equally likely, they may not remember that they had one! If they do want to talk or draw, it is important to be curious and empathic but also reassure them that while nightmares might be scary they are a normal part of recovery and their brain is trying to make sense of what happened to them.

66 Remind your child that anxiety during the night is their brain trying to keep them on high alert so they can avoid any potential dangers; reassure them it is safe to sleep.

Upsetting thoughts and worries

Upsetting thoughts and increased worries are common after experiencing a trauma. These could be memories, guilt, or worries about bad things that have happened or might happen. Difficult thoughts and worries can take up a lot of time and can lead to feeling more anxious and exhausted. Instead of battling with them, or spending ages thinking about them, it is more helpful to let thoughts just come and go. Pushing thoughts away leads to them coming back stronger, but they will go away if you let them fade in their own time.

It is important to try and help your children keep their worries in-check;

- Remind your child that thoughts are just thoughts, not facts.
- Help your child to notice when worrying might be starting for example when they start a sentence with "what if..."
- Create a worry box that your child can post their worries in, with the understanding that you will read them and get back to them at a given time in the day.

- Help your child write their worries down and come back to them later.
 Spend time looking at them together and help them notice which problems are within their control and which are worries. Makes plans to let the worries go and problem solve and action the problems.
- Worries come and go like any other thoughts; help your child notice a worry and see if they can 'watch it' come and go as other thoughts take over.
- Try to help your child focus on what they can control rather than things that are out of their control.

Letting your child know when you have noticed they are worrying can help them choose a more effective way to respond. You can support them to manage their worry, problem solve and action real dilemmas and use the grounding or sensory ideas from the **Children's Guide** to help refocus them.

Reassurance

Children often look to their parents for reassurance in times of uncertainty and distress. Clear, factual and age appropriate answers are helpful; however, there will be some questions that you can't answer and it is important to help your child tolerate that uncertainty remains part of life. After a trauma this can be much harder for a child to manage because their whole world can feel different and uncertain and it may feel like the trauma they experienced could happen again.

Repeated questions and requests for reassurance can often mean that a child is becoming dependent on your answers to reduce their anxiety. However, this can become an unhelpful cycle; they seek reassurance, feel briefly better but then anxiety returns so they ask another question. It is important to help your children identify the content of their worries and if it is a problem to be solved now or if it is something out of their control. If it is not something to be solved then refocus them back onto what they could be doing or what it would be helpful for them to be doing. You may need to answer them once and then let them know you are not going to answer again. It is also important to be mindful of false assurances. You can't promise that bad things won't happen but you can let them know it is not very likely and that you will deal with things if they happen.

Clear factual and age appropriate answers are helpful; however, there will be some questions that you can't answer and it is important to help your child tolerate that uncertainty

Feeling low

After a trauma people often describe feeling low and upset. Life may have changed and feel different and some children may feel a sense of loss because of these perceived changes. Others will be impacted by the distress of recurring memories and associated thoughts and feelings they are having. Distress is normal after a trauma but over time the wider impact of the trauma can develop into a more persistent change in mood. You may see an increase in the frequency of some of these behaviours;

- crying and tearfulness
- shouting and irritability
- changes to appetite
- changes to sleep pattern
- not going out with friends or to previously enjoyed activities
- decreased motivation
- poor self-care
- withdrawing and isolating themselves
- excessive tiredness
- deterioration in concentration

Encourage your child to take care of themselves, to spend time with other people, do one small nice thing every day and exercise regularly. Creating a plan together will encourage more helpful strategies and allow them to reduce less helpful patterns of behaviour. You may need to be creative and actively ensure they are sticking to it. Building in rewards can also be useful. It may not be possible to get a great improvement in mood, but instead aim to build in times when they can have some respite from it. Also, planning ahead will ensure they do not cause further difficulties with relationships (by isolating themselves) and with their achievements (e.g. getting behind with work).

Creating a plan together will encourage more helpful strategies and allow them to reduce less helpful patterns of behaviour.

Self-harm after trauma

Sometimes people have thoughts of harming themselves after a trauma. There are a number of reasons for this; some may think harming themselves may help to reduce difficult emotions while others may actually feel that they want to end their lives. Hearing that your child may have thoughts about harming themselves is clearly very distressing and needs to be taken seriously.

Having a thought about self-harm does not always mean that someone wants to carry out these thoughts; they may actually feel very scared that they are having these thoughts. You can explore this with your child and help by supporting them to speak openly to you about it; reassure them you are on their side and revisit how much they are having these thoughts on a regular basis. If in doubt or if you remain concerned then seek help from professionals, like your GP or school nurse. If you are concerned for your child's immediate safety then ensure they are supervised, remove any potential hazards and seek help from your local mental health service or emergency department.

66 Having a thought about self-harm does not always mean that someone wants to carry out these thoughts; they may actually feel very scared that they are having these thoughts.

Impact of trauma on other family members

It is important to remember that each family member will react differently to any given trauma and people's journey of recovery will also be very different. There may also be a lot of variation in how people will want to deal with their own reactions, for example; some will want to shut down and avoid while others will want to talk. Families often report difficulties with relationships after a trauma: this may be an increase in arguments, differences of opinion about what will help or people becoming more distant. There is no simple solution to this, although some things may be beneficial:

- Encourage people to talk about the impact of the trauma and to listen to the views of others.
- Try and understand and respect one another's reactions.
- Identify the unwanted visitor in the house (e.g. the trauma) as the problem, not the family members as the problem.
- Identify things that you have done well as a family since the trauma, what positive steps have you taken, what are you proud of?
- Plan time together as a family doing things you are comfortable doing.
- Think about strengths you already have as individuals and a family - how can you build on these to manage the current challenges?
- Identify the current difficulties the trauma is causing - can you problem

solve any of these as a family, do you need other people to help you (consider school staff, other family members), can you make a plan to tackle one of the problems?

• Plan rewards for trying and make sure you all get a reward!

Parents who are able to take care of their own reactions will be better able to tolerate the reaction of their children and they can demonstrate that a range of reactions are to be expected. For example, your child might want to watch a TV show that you think will be distressing for you. That does not mean that the TV show is turned off, but it might mean you talk to your child about how you are feeling about watching it. It is also okay to say that you don't want to watch it now but you might try and watch it later, or that you are happy for them to watch it and can be there for them if it upsets them, but that you are going to do something nice for yourself instead.

Families need to be careful not to create an environment that encourages 'avoidance' in the household. As explained above, it can seem that avoiding reminders can reduce distress in the short-term but it is not helpful in the long term, and is part of what can prolong a normal trauma reaction and interfere with recovery. Some ideas to encourage an environment of acceptance and safety:

- Notice what you are avoiding and why and see what happens when you don't avoid.
- What does your child do when reminders come up; are they avoidant, do they leave the room, do they go quiet? Check in with them and offer reassurance that it is hard and it's okay to feel this way.
- Model talking about how you are doing and how you are taking care of these emotions; you might be keeping a diary or talking to friends etc.
- Reassure your child that even if it feels scary, they are safe and it is good to talk.
- Remind your child that trauma can create all sorts of feelings - it is more helpful to acknowledge these feelings rather than push them away.
- Reassure them that things won't always feel like this.

People will react in very different ways after a trauma and some will find they can get on with life with only mild trauma-related difficulties or that difficulties come and go. It is important that this is acknowledged. This will help remind others that things will get better. It can also help those feeling okay to feel less guilty about their response and ensure family life doesn't just become focused on the trauma.

66 There may also be a lot of variation in how people will want to deal with their own reactions, for example; some will want to shut down and avoid while others will want to talk.

Additional help

Recovery can often take time and can involve setbacks. People can feel fine for a while and then feel worse later on, especially if there are other difficult things happening in their life. It can be hard to remember how far you have all come. Being kind to yourself and allowing you and your child to have good and bad days will be helpful. Often people look back a long time afterwards and reflect on how far they have come even though they can't see it at the time.

If things feel really difficult or don't seem to be getting better there are services that can help. You might benefit from extra help if your child is:

- putting a lot of effort into not thinking about things
- having upsetting memories or nightmares
- easily reminded about what happened
- feeling very anxious or low
- feeling jumpy, irritable or on high alert a lot of the time
- not able to do the things they would like to be able to do

Even if you or they are not sure they want support, discussing this further can help you all make a more informed decision.

Often parents' first concern is getting help for their child. However, children often recover quicker if they can see their parents getting back on track. Learning new ways to cope may also give you ideas how to better support your child. If you are noticing that any of the difficulties described in this guide are getting in the way of your own wellbeing and functioning, it is worth considering if you would benefit from additional help.

Where can I get help for my child?

If your child needs more help with trauma memories and/or managing low mood and anxiety, Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing (EMDR) are recommended. Your child's pastoral lead, school nurse or their GP can direct you to the right service. If they are under 16 most services will be provided by Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). For anyone over 16 the local Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service will be able to help and your child will often be able to refer themselves to this.

Setbacks to recovery

Even if you feel that your child is recovering well there may be times when things are harder or memories and feelings about the trauma resurface, for example:

- anniversaries
- police and legal investigations
- media reports
- other traumas

The important thing to remember is that it is entirely normal for things to feel trickier when there are more triggers and memories of the trauma around. You may notice that old feelings and behaviours return for a while but this will gradually settle again. Some things you can do to help your child:

- reduce time on social media and media outlets
- ensure planned time to connect with others
- plan nice things to do each day
- encourage them to use strategies they have found helpful in the past
- prepare for significant dates, such as birthdays or anniversaries
- remember these events will also be emotional for yourself, be kind to yourself and make sure you look after your own needs too

The Important things to remember for your child:

- Trauma affects everyone in different ways at different times; there is no right way to think or feel.
- Trauma recovery is a journey, it will take time, there may be set backs.
- Remember that the trauma is over; your child and family members are safe.
- Different self-care strategies will work for different people; choose the ones that work best for you and your child.
- Unprocessed memories can lead to flashbacks and nightmares; remind your child that they are safe.
- If your child feels low create a plan with them and help them stick to it.

- Remind your child anxiety can't hurt them; it is their body trying to keep them safe but it can get it wrong and there may not be any actual danger.
- Help your child choose which thoughts and worries they should be engaging with and try and let the rest go.
- Help your child face their fears step by step, keep a record of how far they have come and reward them for trying.
- Seek more specialist help if things aren't getting any better.

Parents/Carers:

- You don't have to have been there to be affected by trauma.
- Your reactions are valid and important; look after yourself.
- Use the support around you, ask people for help.
- Be aware of the impact on other family members too.

Helplines and useful apps

Papyrus

Call: 0800 068 41 41 Text: 07860 039967

Papyrus provide confidential support and advice to young people struggling with their mental health and thoughts of suicide.

Young Minds Crisis Text

Text: YM to 85258

The Young Minds Crisis Messenger text service provides free, 24/7 crisis support across the UK.

Young Minds parents helpline: 0808 8025544

Childline Call: 0800 1111

Samaritans Call: 116 123

Useful Apps

You can also access a number of useful apps by visiting the NHS England webpage: nhs.uk/apps-library/

Date of publication: June 2020 Reference: 0143 © Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust